**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court**

---

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 09 2023**

**Certiorari to the Court of Appeals  
APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

**Maite Murphy  
Circuit Court Judge**

---

**Court of Appeals Opinion No. 5908  
Supreme Court Case No. 2022-000850**

---

**The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,**

**v.**

**Gabrielle Oliva Lashane Davis-Kocsis .....Petitioner.**

---

**BRIEF OF PETITIONER**

---

**Susan Barber Hackett  
Office of Appellate Defense  
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401  
Columbia, S.C. 29201  
803.734.1330  
shackett@sccid.sc.gov**

**Jason Scott Luck  
P.O. Box 47

## QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. Whether the Court of Appeals' opinion, which relied on *State v. Vazquez*, 364 S.C. 293, 613 S.E.2d 359 (2005) to affirm Kocsis's sentences for kidnapping in spite of a sentence for murder, conflicts with S.C. Code § 16-3-910 and the Court's holdings in *State v. Livingston*, 282 S.C. 1, 317 S.E.2d 129 (1984) and *State v. Stroman*, 281 S.C. 508, 316 S.E.2d 395 (1984), all of which prohibit a defendant from being sentenced for both murder and kidnapping.
- II. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's admission into evidence of an unfairly prejudicial 911 call recording "for corroborative purposes and establishing the elements of the offense" when the record contains no support for this position and the trial court never listened to the recording before ruling.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner Gabrielle Oliva Lashane Davis-Kocsis (“Kocsis”) was arrested for murder, burglary, two counts of kidnapping, and criminal conspiracy. (R 503-512). These charges arose out of Kocsis’ alleged effort on September 27, 2015, to recover approximately \$1,700.00 and a motorcycle stolen by Mark Connor, who was hiding out in a well-known “trap house” located at 512 McCrystal Circle, Moncks Corner, SC 29461 (“McCrystal Circle”). During this alleged recovery effort an armed man in the party fell through the rotten floor of the house, causing his handgun to discharge and resulting in the death of Connor. (R 341-343).

Kocsis was tried on April 8-10, 2019 before Circuit Court Judge Maite Murphy in Moncks Corner, South Carolina. (R 1). The State was represented by Bart Stegall and Jordan Smith of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor’s Office, and Kocsis was represented by Grant Smaldone and Jason Luck. (R 2). The jury found Kocsis guilty of all charges, and Judge Murphy sentenced Kocsis to fifty years’ imprisonment for murder, fifty years for burglary, thirty years for each count of kidnapping, and five years for conspiracy. (R 488-489). Judge Murphy ordered these terms to be served concurrently. (R 488-489). Kocsis timely served her notice of appeal on April 18, 2019.

The Court of Appeals entertained oral arguments on February 16, 2022. The panel of Acting Judge Lockemy, Judge Geathers, and Judge Hill affirmed the Circuit Court by published opinion dated May 4, 2022 (“Opinion”). Kocsis timely filed a petition for rehearing in this matter, which the Court of Appeals denied on May 25,

2022. Kocsis timely filed a petition for certiorari on June 20, 2022, which this Court granted on November 23, 2022.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

### Sentencing

“A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support.” *In re M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 326, 692 S.E.2d 541, 542 (2010). Errors of law are reviewed by this Court *de novo*. *E.g.*, *State v. Adams*, 409 S.C. 641, 763 S.E.2d 341 (2014); *State v. Bash*, 412 S.C. 420, 772 S.E.2d 537 (Ct. App. 2015). The interpretation of a statute is also reviewed *de novo*. *Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 642 S.E.2d 751 (2007).

### Admission of Evidence

“The admission of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Hatcher*, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011) (quoting *State v. Pagan*, 369 S.C. 201, 208, 631 S.E.2d 262, 265 (2006)). “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” *Id.*; *see also State v. Brockmeyer*, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Court of Appeals’ opinion conflicts with a South Carolina statute and 39-year-old precedent of this Court.**

Kocsis was convicted of the kidnapping of Alexis Murray and Whitney Chance, and the murder<sup>1</sup> of Mark Connor during the events of September 27, 2015. (R 484-485). The trial court sentenced her to 30 years imprisonment for each kidnapping, and 50 years for murder. (R 488-489). It is the position of Kocsis, which is supported by the plain language of South Carolina’s kidnapping statute and precedent of this Court, that a defendant may not be sentenced for both kidnapping and murder. The Court of Appeals, however, held this prohibition is limited to situations where the kidnapping victim and the murder victim are the same. (Opinion p. 15).

The South Carolina Code states a defendant convicted of kidnapping “...must be imprisoned for a period not to exceed thirty years unless sentenced for murder as provided in Section 16-3-20.” S.C. Code § 16-3-910. The plain language of this statute does not require the kidnapping victim and murder victim be the same person. This Court, citing this statute, came to the same conclusion in two opinions, neither of which have been restricted, vacated, or overruled. *See State v. Livingston*, 282 S.C. 1, 8, 317 S.E.2d 129, 133 (1984); *State v. Stroman*, 281 S.C. 508, 514, 316 S.E.2d 395, 400 (1984).

In *Livingston*, this Court vacated five kidnapping sentences (where only four murders occurred), directly holding: “We agree with *Livingston* that § 16-3-910 of the

---

<sup>1</sup> Kocsis was found culpable for murder under the doctrine of “the hand of one is the hand of all”. *See, e.g., State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 515 S.E.2d 98 (1999).

Code prevents the imposition of a life sentence for kidnapping where an accused is sentenced for murder pursuant to § 16-3-20 of the Code.” *Livingston*, 282 S.C. at 8, 317 S.E.2d at 133. *Stroman* similarly held, in a case where this Court vacated five sentences for kidnapping (where only four murders occurred): “...S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910...prevents the imposition of a life imprisonment sentence for kidnapping if the defendant has also been sentenced for murder pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20...” *Stroman*, 281 S.C. at 514, 316 S.E.2d at 400.

In the face of *Livingston*, *Stroman*, and the clear and unambiguous language of § 16-3-910, the Court of Appeals held the prohibition of sentences for both kidnapping and murder in § 16-3-910 only applied if the victim of the murder and kidnapping were the same person. (Opinion p. 15). The Court of Appeals’ limitation of § 16-3-910 has no basis in the language of the statute; it was instead based on dictum from *State v. Vazquez*, 364 S.C. 293, 302, 613 S.E.2d 359, 363 (2005). The issue before the *Vazquez* court was whether “the trial judge erred in sentencing [the defendant] for the kidnapping of the murder victims.” *Id.* (emphasis added). What was not before the *Vazquez* court was the general proposition of whether a defendant may be sentenced for the kidnapping of persons other than the murder victim(s) under § 16-3-910. The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court’s sentence, and Kocsis is entitled to, at a minimum, vacatur of her kidnapping sentences.

\*  
\*\*

Assuming, *arguendo*, § 16-3-910 was ambiguous, there exists substantial evidence of the Legislature’s intent to prohibit sentences for both kidnapping and murder. “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the

intent of the legislature.” *Hodges v. Rainey*, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). The reviewing court must “seek a construction that gives effect to every word of a statute rather than adopting an interpretation that renders a portion meaningless.” *Hinton v. South Carolina Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 357 S.C. 327, 342, 592 S.E.2d 335, 343 (Ct. App. 2004). The court “must read the statute so that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous.” *CFRE, LLC v. Greenville County Assessor*, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011) (internal quotations omitted). Importantly, a penal statute is “construed strictly against the State and in favor of the defendant.” *Rainey v. State*, 307 S.C. 150, 151-52, 414 S.E.2d 131, 132 (1992). Where there is “any doubt” about a statute’s scope, the interpreting court is “required” to resolve it in the defendant’s favor. *State v. Miles*, 421 S.C. 154, 164, 805 S.E.2d 204, 210 (Ct. App. 2017).

Pursuant to S.C. Code § 16-3-910:

[w]hoever shall unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, kidnap, abduct or carry away any other person by any means whatsoever without authority of law, except when a minor is seized or taken by a parent, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned for a period not to exceed thirty years **unless sentenced for murder as provided in Section 16-3-20**.

(emphasis added). The plain reading of the statute requires vacatur of Kocsis’s sentences for kidnapping, as she was also sentenced for murder as provided in Section 16-3-20. Had the Legislature intended for the “unless” portion of the statute to apply only when the victim of the kidnapping is also the victim of the murder, the Legislature could have said so easily; yet, the Legislature did not. Thus, interpreting

the statute exactly as it is written, which this Court is obligated to do, requires vacatur of Kocsis's sentences for kidnapping.

Furthermore, the Legislature amended § 16-3-910 in 1991. *See* 1991 Act No. 117, § 1. This amendment decreased the penalty for kidnapping from a maximum sentence of life imprisonment to thirty years. *Id.* This Court decided *Livingston* roughly seven years before this amendment. *State v. Livingston*, 282 S.C. 1, 317 S.E.2d 129 (1984). In *Livingston*, the defendant was convicted of four counts of murder and five counts of kidnapping, among other offenses. *Id.* at 4, 317 S.E.2d at 130. He was sentenced to four life sentences for murder and five life sentences for kidnapping. *Id.* at 4, 317 S.E.2d at 131. Based upon § 16-3-910, this Court vacated “[t]he sentences for kidnapping.” *Id.* at 8, 317 S.E.2d at 133. This Court made no distinction between the sentences for kidnapping that concerned murder victims and the sentence for kidnapping that did not. *Id.* At the time of *Livingston*'s trial and appeal, South Carolina's kidnapping statute provided:

[w]hoever shall unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, kidnap, abduct or carry away any other person by any means whatsoever without authority of law, except when a minor is seized by a parent thereof, shall be guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, shall suffer the punishment of life imprisonment unless sentenced for murder as provided in § 16-3-20.

S.C. Code § 16-3-910 (1985).

“The Legislature is presumed to be aware of [the appellate courts'] interpretation of its statutes.” *Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 100, 111, 580 S.E.2d 100, 105 (2003). “There is a presumption that the legislature has knowledge of previous legislation as well as of judicial decisions construing that

legislation when later statutes are enacted concerning related subjects.” *State v. McKnight*, 352 S.C. 635, 648, 576 S.E.2d 168, 175 (2003). Where the Legislature fails to alter a statute over a long period of time, “its inaction is evidence the Legislature agrees with th[e] Court’s interpretation.” *Wigfall*, 354 S.C. at 111, 580 S.E.2d at 105.

Therefore, in 1991, when the Legislature amended the statute to decrease the maximum penalty for kidnapping, the Legislature was well aware of this Court’s interpretation of the clause excluding punishment for kidnapping when the person was also sentenced for murder – regardless of whether the murder victim and kidnapping victim were one in the same. Aware of this interpretation, the Legislature took no action to change the statutory provision. Thus, the rules of statutory construction require this Court interpret the Legislature’s decision to leave that particular clause of the statute alone, while altering the words immediately preceding that clause, to mean that the Legislature intended the statute to have the force and effect given by this Court in *Livingston*.

Similarly, the Legislature has changed the sentencing ranges for kidnapping and murder several times. Currently, and at the time of the alleged offenses at issue here, the punishment for murder is death or thirty years to life. S.C. Code § 16-3-20(A). The punishment for kidnapping is a sentence not to exceed thirty years. S.C. Code § 16-3-910. Importantly, the Legislature made changes to the sentencing provisions for murder and kidnapping, but the Legislature left alone the prohibition on sentencing a person for kidnapping when the person has already been sentenced for murder. Just as the Legislature’s determination to leave this provision alone

following the *Livingston* decision manifests the Legislature's intent that anytime someone is sentenced for murder the person shall not be sentenced for kidnapping as well, the Legislature's resolution to leave this prohibition alone while altering other aspects of the statutory scheme shows the Legislative desire to forbid the sentencing of someone for convictions of murder and kidnapping regardless of the identity of the alleged victims of those offenses.

The Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's sentence, and Kocsis is entitled to, at a minimum, vacatur of her kidnapping sentences.

**II. Admission of the 911 call recording violates Rule 403, SCRE, and conflicts with this Court's precedent interpreting this rule.**

The State's first witness at trial was Peggy Brown, records custodian for Berkeley County 911. (R 37-38). The sole purpose of this witness was to introduce into evidence a September 27, 2015, recording of a 911 call made by witnesses Alexis Murray and Whitney Chance. (R 39). The call consisted primarily of Murray and Chance pleading with the operator for a quick response and begging Connor to not die. The State argued the recording was admissible because it provided "in real time what is taking place in that moment in trying to give law enforcement the address, the description of the cars, trying to get the description of the assailants in real time." (R 13). This recording, which is part of the Court of Appeals' record, was raw and emotional, and it poisoned the jury, leaving such an impression that they asked to hear it again during deliberations. (R 483).

Kocsis sought to exclude this recording first in a pretrial motion in limine. (R 12-14). Despite having not listened to the recording in question (R 12; Opinion p. 4 n.

1), the trial court denied Kocsis's motion to exclude the recording under Rule 403, SCRE, on the basis "[the 911 recording is] intended for corroborative purposes and establishing the elements of the offense." (R 14). The trial court issued the same ruling when Kocsis's counsel contemporaneously objected to the introduction of the recording at trial. (R 39). The Court of Appeals held the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to exclude the 911 recording it never listened to. (Opinion p. 17).

The trial court's failure to review the evidence it admitted represents an abuse of discretion. *Fontaine v. Peitz*, 291 S.C. 536, 538, 354 S.E.2d 565, 566 (1987) ("When the trial judge is vested with discretion, but his ruling reveals no discretion was, in fact, exercised, an error of law has occurred."). The trial court's decision was also controlled by an erroneous interpretation of corroboration evidence. In order to present corroboration evidence, one must first present evidence to corroborate:

Corroborative testimony is testimony which tends to strengthen, conform, or make more certain the testimony of **another witness**. Evidence is admissible to corroborate the testimony of a **previous witness**, and whether it in fact corroborates the witness' testimony is a question for the jury.

*Stroman*, 281 S.C. at 510, 316 S.E.2d at 397 (quotations and citations removed) (emphasis added). Peggy Brown was the first witness of trial; by the time the State introduced the 911 recording, no party had presented evidence to the jury. The parties had presented opening statements, but the arguments of counsel are not evidence. *See, e.g., State v. Hughes*, 328 S.C. 146, 493 S.E.2d 821 (1997); *see also* R 24 ("What the attorneys tell you during their opening statements is not evidence in this case.").

With no evidence in the record to corroborate, admission of evidence on the basis it was corroborative is both an error of law and without any evidentiary support. *See State v. Bratschi*, 413 S.C. 97, 114, 775 S.E.2d 39, 49 (Ct. App. 2015).

The trial court also found (affirmed by the Court of Appeals) the 911 recording was admissible for “establishing the elements of the offense” (R 14), *i.e.*, it was relevant. *See* Rule 401, SCRE (definition of relevant evidence). However, even relevant evidence may be excluded when its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. *See* Rule 403, SCRE. “Evidence is unfairly prejudicial if it has an undue tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, such as an emotional one.” *State v. Cheeseboro*, 346 S.C. 526, 547, 552 S.E.2d 300, 311 (2001).

Here, the 911 recording’s probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. As previously discussed, the recording was raw and emotional, exceeding the typical scope of a 911 call. *See Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 827 (2006) (explaining that a 911 call ordinarily involves a brief description of current circumstances that require emergency assistance).

In addition to the danger of unfair prejudice posed by the raw emotion of the call itself, the cumulative effect of the call coupled with the witnesses’ testimony and the jury’s request to hear the recording again heightened the danger of unfair prejudice presented by the call. This Court has recognized improper corroboration evidence has a “cumulative effect” which has a “devastating impact”. *See State v. Barrett*, 299 S.C. 485, 487, 386 S.E.2d 242, 243 (1989). The jury’s request to hear the

911 recording a second time during deliberations provides additional evidence of the danger of unfair prejudice presented by the 911 recording. (R 483). This request shows the jury gave “critical attention” to this unfairly prejudicial piece of evidence. *See Martin v. State*, 427 S.C. 450, 457, 832 S.E.2d 277 (2019) (citing *State v. Blassingame*, 271 S.C. 44, 46-47, 244 S.E.2d 528, 529-30 (1978)); *Rutland v. State*, 415 S.C. 570, 579, 785 S.E.2d 350, 354 (2016) (granting post-conviction relief where trial counsel failed to cross examine a witness on a prior inconsistent statement and explaining that a jury’s question regarding fingerprints on a handgun showed the jury was focusing critical attention on the sequence of events surrounding the shooting, about which the witness had testified). The outsize weight the jury gave the 911 recording substantially outweighs the probative value of the 911 recording; Alexis Murray and Whitney Chance were available to testify at trial, and did in fact testify at trial as to all of the information communicated in the 911 recording. The 911 call represented needless cumulative evidence that only resulted in inflaming the passions of the jury; the Circuit Court erred in admitting it, and Kocsis is entitled to a new trial.

## CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals should be reversed.