STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Feb 28 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
APPEAL FROM BERKELEY COUNTY
COURT OF GENERAL SESSIONS

Honorable Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

Court of Appeals Opinion No. 5908
Supreme Court Case No. 2022-000850

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

GABRIELLE OLIVA LASHANE DAVIS-KOCSIS, PETITIONER.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD
Assistant Attorney General

South Carolina Office of the
Attorney General
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549

SCARLETT A. WILSON

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

ARGUMENT

I. This Court already decided this issue in *State v. Vazsquez*, 613 S.E.2d 359 (2005), when it held a defendant may be separately sentenced for murder and kidnapping when the respective victims are different. Therefore, the Court of Appeals rightly applied this Court's precedent when it upheld the trial court's murder and kidnapping sentences here.

Petitioner argues that even though she was convicted of the murder of Mark Connor, the separate kidnapping of Alexis Murray, and the separate kidnapping of Whitney Chance, she still should have received the benefit of S.C. Code § 16-3-910's provision that trial judges may not sentence a defendant for both murder and kidnapping when the same person was the victim of both crimes.² This issue has already been decided by this Court in *State v. Vazsquez*, 364 S.C. 293, 613 S.E.2d 359 (2005) (abrogated on other grounds by *State v. Evans*, 371 S.C. 27, 637 S.E.2d 313 (2006)), and therefore this Court should affirm the Court of Appeals. Petitioner is not entitled to commit two free kidnappings just because she also murdered a third individual.

Petitioner was convicted of all three crimes at issue in this section under hand of one, hand of all. The record shows she "put a hit out" on Mark Connor for stealing cash and a motorcycle from her. It also shows she then organized a group to exact revenge in the middle of the night, ensuring the group was armed and masked before forcibly breaking into Miss Rose's

² **S.C. Code § 16-3-910 (1991):** "Whoever shall unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, kidnap, abduct or carry away any other person by any means whatsoever without authority of law, except when a minor is seized or taken by his parent, is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be imprisoned for a period not to exceed thirty years unless sentenced for murder as provided in Section 16-3-20."

This section has become an issue in recent cases where an individual has been convicted of both murder and kidnapping but only the murder sentence is overturned on appeal. *See, e.g. Williams v. Stirling*, 914 F.3d 302 (4th Cir. 2019) (vacating petitioner's death sentence (where the jury had previously found both the aggravating circumstance of kidnapping and found him guilty of the offense of kidnapping) but no sentence was issued *for* the kidnapping.) There is no legal authority to hold an offender in prison pending re-trial or further proceedings even though the violent and most serious offense of kidnapping stands if a murder sentence is vacated.

house where Mark Connor and many others slept. While inside, one co-conspirator held Alexis Murray at gunpoint, who testified at trial that she did not feel free to leave. Another co-conspirator held Whitney Chance at gunpoint, who also testified she did not feel free to leave, especially when the pepper spray immobilized her. A third co-conspirator joined Petitioner in the bedroom where Connor and multiple others slept, and Petitioner loudly exhorted that man to “shoot him” right before he did, in fact, shoot Connor. The record shows that criminal intent existed for the three crimes at issue here, and as there were three separate victims, three separate indictments, convictions, and sentences were properly issued.

The Court of Appeals reached the correct conclusion in their 2022 opinion that affirmed the Judge Murphy’s sentences. *State v. Davis-Kocsis*, 436 S.C. 468, 872 S.E.2d 415 (Ct. App. 2022). The court, first noting the issue was unpreserved,³ reached the merits in light of *State v. Vick* and discussed the cases Petitioner relies on including *Vick*, 384 S.C. 189, 682 S.E.2d 275 (Ct. App. 2009) (vacating the kidnapping sentence of a defendant sentenced for the murder and kidnapping of the same victim); *State v. East*, 353 S.C. 634, 638-639, 578 S.E.2d 748, 751 (Ct. App. 2003) (upholding the trial court’s denial of a directed verdict on a kidnapping charge

³ This issue was not properly preserved because no contemporaneous objection was made at sentencing. *State v. Johnston* mandates that a challenge to a sentence cannot be raised for the first time on appeal. Only in exceptional circumstances may an appellate court hear the issue, and the two circumstances that qualify as exception as set forth in *Johnston* do not apply here. *State v. Johnston*, 333 S.C. 459, 463-464, 510 S.E.2d 423, 425 (1999) (finding an appellate court may only hear a sentencing issue raised for the first time on appeal if the State made a concession regarding sentencing or there was a threat a defendant would remain incarcerated beyond his legal sentence).

As during a trial, grave procedural issues arise when objections are not made at sentencing. Objections are necessary to give both the bench and the bar an opportunity to address an issue right then. *See, e.g., State v. Bonner*, 400 S.C. 561, 735 S.E.2d 525 (Ct. App. 2012). Therefore, this Court should find the Court of Appeals improperly reached the merits, but nevertheless reached the proper result.

because the jury was properly instructed they must find a separate intent to commit kidnapping in order to convict); *State v. Livingston*, 282 S.C. 1, 317 S.E.2d 129 (1984) (upholding the four life sentences for four counts of murder but vacating the five life sentences given for five counts of kidnapping); and *State v. Stroman*, 281 S.C. 508, 316 S.E.2d 395 (1984) (vacating the life sentence for kidnapping when the judge also gave a life sentence for murder). It then logically explained why the cases Petitioner argues should have been applied to her did not.

The court cited *Vazsquez*, 364 S.C. 293, 613 S.E.2d 359, and concluded that in light of it, § 16-3-910 did not apply to the separate kidnappings of Murray and Chance. *Davis-Kocsis*, 436 S.C. at 426; *Vazsquez*, 364 S.C. at 302, 613 S.E.2d at 363. The “kidnapping sentences related to victims who were not murdered were proper.” *Davis-Kocsis*, 436 S.C. at 426; *Vazsquez*, 364 S.C. at 302, 613 S.E.2d at 363. The court then stated “[w]e acknowledge Kocsis cites two opinions from our Supreme Court from 1984 to support her position” (noting *Livingston* and *Stroman*) but then highlights that it relies on the most current and correct precedent in making its decision. *See State v. Phillips*, 416 S.C. 184, 194, 785 S.E.2d 448, 453 (2016) (“[I]t is incumbent upon the court of appeals to apply [the South Carolina Supreme Court’s] precedent.”)⁴

The court is correct. The Court of Appeals is always required to apply this Court’s most recent precedent. S.C. Const. Art. V, § 9. This Court’s most recent precedent is *Vazsquez*: “[T]he judge erred in sentencing Appellant for the kidnapping of the murder victims. However, the sentences related to the kidnapping of Atkins and Robertson (who were not murdered) are proper

⁴ Respondent notes for this Court that all other cases that discuss § 16-3-910 (with the exception of *Vick*) were all decided before *Vazsquez*: e.g., *Owens v. State*, 331 S.C. 582, 503 S.E.2d 462 (1998); *State v. McCall*, 304 S.C. 465, 405 S.E.2d 414 (Ct. App. 1991) (overruled by *Brightman v. State*, 336 S.C. 348, 520 S.E.2d 614 (1999) on other grounds); *State v. Adams*, 277 S.C. 115, 283 S.E.2d 582 (1981) (overruled by *State v. Torrence*, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991) on other grounds); *State v. Perry*, 278 S.C. 490, 299 S.E.2d 324 (1983); *State v. Copeland*, 278 S.C. 572, 300 S.E.2d 63 (1982); etc.

under S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-910 (2003).” 364 S.C. at 302, 613 S.E.2d at 363 (parentheses added). The *Vazsquez* determination comports with both common sense and history. Until 1976, kidnapping and murder were always separate crimes and offenders always received separate sentences.⁵ The present murder statute, “Murder is the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied,” has been in place since the mid-1800s.⁶ The language of our modern-day kidnapping statute, though, began to take shape in 1942:

Whoever shall unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, kidnap, abduct, or carry away any person by any means whatsoever, and hold such person for ransom or reward . . . shall suffer the punishment of death: provided however . . . the jury may find a special verdict recommending him or her to the mercy of the court, whereupon the punishment shall be reduced to . . . hard labor during the whole lifetime

[P]rovided further, that notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this subsection with respect to punishment of death, if the kidnapped person be released and returned alive prior to the opening of the trial, the death penalty shall not be imposed, and the convicted person shall be punished by imprisonment in the same manner as though the jury had recommended him or her to the mercy of the court.

Jacobs Press, *Code of Laws of South Carolina 1942 in Five Vols.*, Vol. I, § 1122, p. 771 (1942).

⁵ See, e.g., A.S. Johnston, *The Statutes at Large of South Carolina 1682-1716 Acts* p. 42 (1837). The first kidnapping law (that affected South Carolina law) was established in 1486 in Great Britain and was adopted by this state in the early 1700s. It was illegal to “carry a woman away against her will that hath lands or goods” and the penalty was death. *Id.* See also David J. McCord, *The Statutes at Large of South Carolina 1814-1838*, Vol. VI, p. 574 (1839), where it was rendered illegal to abduct and sell a free person of color, with the penalty being at least twelve months in prison, a fine of not less than one thousand dollars, and “thirty-nine lashes on the bare back.” Other various laws across time prohibited the kidnapping of sailors, pirates, maidens, minors, and more with each enjoying an accompanying sentence.

Conversely, murder of slave or free (or “murder” as it was in 1685) was always punished by “the paines of death” up until 1912 when juries were first permitted to recommend mercy to the court. Michie Company, *Code of Laws of South Carolina 1912*, Vol. II, p. 254 (1912). By comparison, Sections 164 and 165 of the 1912 Code provided a separate punishment for kidnapping: life imprisonment. *Id.* pp. 264, 319.

⁶ Republican Printing Company, *Revised Statutes of the State of South Carolina* p. 709 (1873).

By 1962, the punishment for murder was still death with the possibility of a jury mercy recommendation of hard labor for life in prison, and the separate punishment for kidnapping was also still death, with the possibility of a jury mercy recommendation of hard labor for life in prison. Michie Company, *Code of Laws of South Carolina 1962*, Vol. IV, § 16-52 p. 448, § 16-91 p. 464 (1962). Then, in 1976, the Legislature amended the kidnapping statute to:

Whoever shall unlawfully seize, confine, inveigle, decoy, kidnap, abduct or carry away any other person by any means whatsoever without authority of law . . . shall be guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, shall suffer the punishment of life imprisonment unless sentenced for murder as provided in § 16-3-20.

Lawyers Co-Operative Publishing Co., *Code of Laws of South Carolina 1976 Annotated*, Vol. VIII, § 16-3-910, p. 73 (1976).

This Court interpreted the statute for the first time in 1981 in *State v. Adams*, holding that a trial court erred by sentencing a defendant to life for his kidnapping conviction because he had already been sentenced to death on his murder conviction, and no statutory provision was made for concurrent punishments. *State v. Adams*, 277 S.C. 115, 283 S.E.2d 582 (1981).

Fast forwarding to 2009, the Court of Appeals noted, “[o]ur courts have long held, where an appellant has been sentenced for a murder of a victim, this code section precludes a sentence for kidnapping *of that victim*, and any such sentence should be vacated.” *Vick*, 384 S.C. at 201, 682 S.E.2d at 281. The reason for the 1976 additional half-sentence is largely unknown, but it was enacted at a time where an offender who committed both offenses would likely be put to death, potentially rendering a life imprisonment sentence moot or redundant. The exact reasoning is not recorded in the annals of South Carolina history.

Petitioner argues that if the Legislature meant the portion of the statute in question to apply *only* when the victim of the kidnapping is *also* the victim of the murder then it should and could have said so. Respondent asserts the opposite. One cannot conclude the Legislature

intended a defendant to escape accountability for a separate kidnapping of a victim he or she did not murder just because he or she happened to murder another victim for which he is on trial. This has been particularly true since 1991 (post *Stroman* and *Livingston*) when the Legislature amended the kidnapping statute yet again to decrease the penalty from life to thirty years. S.C. Code § 16-3-910 (1991); Session 109 (1991-1992) S.C. Legislature H*3350, Act # 0117. Murder also no longer carries a mandatory death, or even life, sentence, so kidnapping necessarily should be a distinct crime that is punished separately. History demonstrates that both crimes have always been taken very seriously by this state. Ruling that the last half sentence of § 16-3-910 mandates that an offender can never be punished for kidnapping separate victims than the one(s) he or she murdered does not comport with either history or common sense.

In 1998, Article I of the South Carolina Constitution was amended to include Section 24, The Victims' Bill of Rights. In Section (C)(2), "Victim" is defined as "a person who suffers direct or threatened physical, psychological, or financial harm as a result of the commission or attempted commission of a crime against him." S.C. Const. art I § 24. Section (A) underscores that victims of crimes have a right to justice and due process. Section (A)(11) establishes they have the right to a reasonable disposition of and to their case. A victim has a right to see their lawfully convicted offender receive a just and separate punishment for each criminal offense he or she committed against him or her under South Carolina law. This Court and the Court of Appeals have both wisely affirmed that sentiment in recent years. To not also do so here would be unjust. Where else in South Carolina history, case law, or statute is a free crime allowed, especially one of the magnitude of kidnapping, a violent and most serious offense?⁷

⁷ An offender may receive life in prison if he or she is convicted of two or more most serious offenses under S.C. Code § 17-25-45 (1982).

II. The Court of Appeals properly upheld the trial court’s admission of the 911 call because it rehabilitated the attacked credibility of the eyewitnesses, gave a real-time account of what occurred post-shooting, was material to proving criminal intent and the elements of the crimes, and it corroborated statements regarding the identity of the shooter and homeowner. Its probative value was not therefore substantially outweighed by any prejudicial effect.

Petitioner argues the Court of Appeals erred in upholding Judge Murphy’s admission of the 911 tape as it was unfairly prejudicial for being “raw and emotional” and the record did not support admission for the stated purposes.⁸ Respondent maintains this argument is without merit. The Court of Appeals rightly held no manifest abuse of discretion accompanied by probable prejudice occurred by the call’s admission. *Davis-Kocsis*, 872 S.E.2d at 426. Judge Murphy stated the 911 call’s probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of undue prejudice under Rule 403, SCRE, was admissible to corroborative purposes, and was admissible to establish the elements of the offense. *Davis-Kocsis*, 872 S.E.2d at 427; R. p. 14. The Court of Appeals also rightly found the call was admissible to counteract the Petitioner’s attempt to discredit witnesses in her opening statement. “If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.” *Id.*; *Lyles*, 379 S.C. at 339, 665 S.E.2d at 207. This Court should affirm.

In its analysis of why the trial court was correct, the Court of Appeals compared Petitioner’s case to *State v. Stephens*, 398 S.C. 314, 78 S.E.2d 68 (Ct. App. 2012). In *Stephens*, the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court’s admission of a second photographic lineup under Rule 403 because the main defense strategy was to discredit a witness’s identification of the defendant in the lineup. 398 S.C. at 319-322, 728 S.E.2d at 71-73. The court here compared the facts of the cases and held

⁸ As to Petitioner’s argument that the trial court erred by admitting the 911 call without listening to it first, this argument is not preserved for appellate review. Petitioner did not raise this issue to the Court of Appeals in its initial, final, or reply brief, at oral argument, or in its petition for rehearing. Therefore, Petitioner has waived this issue. This Court should affirm.

the trial court in Petitioner's case did not abuse its discretion because the defense's main strategy at trial was to discredit the witnesses as unreliable drug addicts. *Davis-Kocsis*, 872 S.E.2d at 427.

It found that the call, admitted as State's Exhibit 1:

[S]upported the State's version of events by providing an account of what happened in "real time," and the recording identified Kocsis as being part of the group that broke into Ms. Rose's home and killed Victim. Additionally, during cross-examination of many of the State's witnesses, Kocsis questioned the witnesses about their credibility, their drug usage, criminal records, possible benefits from testifying, and the quality of their recollections of what occurred.

In her closing argument, Kocsis emphasized the State's witnesses were drug addicts, asserted they were liars, attacked their credibility, and contended their memories were faulty. Kocsis's case is similar to *Stephens* because in light of the whole trial, Kocsis attempted to discredit the State's witnesses like the defendant attempted to discredit the witness's identification in *Stephens*.

Davis-Kocsis, 872 S.E.2d at 427.

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